

Nova Southeastern University NSUWorks

All HCAS Student Capstones, Theses, and Dissertations

HCAS Student Theses and Dissertations

8-8-2023

Optimization of Light Spectrum During Coral Grow-out

Daisy N. Ponce Nova Southeastern University

Follow this and additional works at: https://nsuworks.nova.edu/hcas_etd_all

Share Feedback About This Item

NSUWorks Citation

Daisy N. Ponce. 2023. *Optimization of Light Spectrum During Coral Grow-out*. Master's thesis. Nova Southeastern University. Retrieved from NSUWorks, . (144) https://nsuworks.nova.edu/hcas_etd_all/144.

This Thesis is brought to you by the HCAS Student Theses and Dissertations at NSUWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in All HCAS Student Capstones, Theses, and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of NSUWorks. For more information, please contact nsuworks@nova.edu.

Thesis of Daisy N. Ponce

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science Marine Science

Nova Southeastern University Halmos College of Arts and Sciences

August 2023

Approved: Thesis Committee

Committee Chair: Joana Figueiredo, Ph.D.

Committee Member: Nicole D. Fogarty, Ph.D.

Committee Member: D. Abigail Renegar, Ph.D.

This thesis is available at NSUWorks: https://nsuworks.nova.edu/hcas_etd_all/144

NOVA SOUTHEASTERN UNIVERSITY HALMOS COLLEGE OF ARTS AND SCIENCES

Optimization of Light Spectrum During Coral Grow-out

By

Daisy N. Ponce

Submitted to the Faculty of Halmos College of Arts and Sciences in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science with a specialty in:

Marine Science

Nova Southeastern University

September 2023

Abstract

Direct and indirect anthropogenic stressors have led to a global decline of coral populations. Coral restoration aims to mitigate this loss and facilitate reef recovery. In particular, the sexual propagation of corals ex situ allows for the production and outplant of genetically diverse coral recruits on the reef. However, optimization at *ex situ* coral nurseries is required to scale-up production. This project aims to investigate and develop methods that reduce the duration of grow-out ex situ by determining the optimal light spectrum under which to rear for sexual recruits of the tropical scleractinian coral species Pseudodiploria strigosa and P. clivosa. Newlysettled corals of these species were reared under dim light ($<50 \mu$ mol photons m⁻² s⁻¹) and, after 4 weeks, shifted to one of three light spectra: blue-shifted spectrum produced by an LED light with a reef-depth light irradiance, reef depth spectrum produced by an LED light, or near surface depth light spectrum produced by natural sunlight with reef-depth irradiance levels achieved by using shade cloths. The three treatments were replicated in two tanks where survival and growth were quantified weekly from five to fourteen weeks post-settlement. Pseudodiploria strigosa demonstrated significantly higher survival and growth than P. clivosa, which may be due to their greater size at the time of settlement. Corals under LED lights exhibited faster growth rates than corals exposed to sunlight. The results suggest that light spectrum is an important factor in coral growth, and LED blue-shifted light spectrum may be a more suitable spectrum for coral growout 5 weeks after settlement. The manipulation of light spectrum during coral grow-out can reduce the time required at the ex situ nursery before outplanting and/or increase the size of the corals available for outplanting, thereby decreasing chances of mortality due to predation and overgrowth.

Keywords: aquaculture, irradiance, coral restoration, Pseudodiploria

Table of Contents

| List of Figures | iii |
|---|-----|
| List of Tables | iv |
| Introduction | 1 |
| Methods | 6 |
| Spawning, larval rearing and settlement | 6 |
| Recruit rearing | 7 |
| Experimental set up | 9 |
| Routine care | |
| Survivorship and growth measurements | |
| Data analysis | 14 |
| Spectral analysis | 15 |
| Results | 16 |
| Survival | 16 |
| Growth | |
| Discussion | |
| Supplementary Material | |
| References | |

List of Figures

| Figure 1. Settlement tray and larval settlement system | 7 |
|---|----|
| Figure 2. Tile maps | 8 |
| Figure 3. Experimental set up | 11 |
| Figure 4. Coral juveniles under to LED blue-shifted, LED reef-depth, and sunlight | |
| near-surface spectra | 12 |
| Figure 5. Weekly growth measurement and survivorship assessments | 14 |
| Figure 6. CellSens software | 14 |
| Figure 7. Probability of survival of <i>Pseudodiploria strigosa</i> juveniles over time | 17 |
| Figure 8. Probability of survival <i>Pseudodiploria clivosa</i> recruits over time | 18 |
| Figure 9. Surface area of corals over time for <i>Pseudodiploria clivosa</i> and | |
| Pseudodiploria strigosa under different light spectrum treatmen | 20 |
| Figure 10. Predictive Size model | 22 |
| Figure S1. Microscopic images of corals under different lights treatments at fourteen | |
| weeks post-settlement. | 30 |
| Figure S2. Ecotech Radion XR30 Mobius app settings use to create 60 PAR | 34 |
| Figure S3. Ecotech Radion XR30 Mobius app settings used to create 110 PAR | 34 |
| Figure S4. Differential Algal growth between sunlight and LED light source | 35 |
| Figure S5. Spectral analysis at 60 PAR | 36 |
| Figure S6. Spectral Analysis at 110 PAR | |

List of Tables

| Table 1. LED Photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) regime for | |
|--|----|
| weeks 1-14 post-settlement | 12 |
| Table 2. Cox proportional hazards model | 16 |
| Table 3. Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chi-square tests) | |
| of the simplified model | 20 |
| Table 4. Pairwise comparison of the effects of light spectrum on the growth of <i>P. clivosa</i> and | |
| P. strigosa | 23 |
| Table S1. Spawning and settlement details | 31 |
| Table S2. Irradiance recordings during experimental weeks (5-14). | 32 |
| Table S3. Kelvin recordings during experimental weeks (5-14) for | |
| LED light treatments | 33 |
| Table S4. RPubs links | 37 |

Introduction

Reef-building corals are integral architects of an intricate and diverse ecosystem, tropical coral reefs. Healthy coral reefs harbor a rich and abundant variety of fish and benthic invertebrate communities (Fisher et al., 2015; Plaisance et al., 2011). The structural complexity of coral reefs protects coastlines from erosion and damage caused by storms, by acting as a wave energy buffer (Hearn, 1999). Direct and indirect anthropogenic stressors pose challenges to corals by undermining their growth, survival, and population persistence (Côté et al., 2005; Bruno et al., 2007; Sebens et al., 1994; Thangaraj et al., 2019; Wilkinson et al., 1993). Since the 1950s, coral cover has been declining, and predictions indicate that 60% will be lost by the year 2030 (Bruno et al., 2019; Eddy et al., 2018; Hughes et al., 2017). The rapid decline of coral populations globally has led to a reduction of fish diversity and abundance along with a loss of structural complexity and integrity (Bruno et al., 2007; Côté et al., 2005). In regions where reefbuilding scleractinian corals are in peril, conservation strategies, such as habitat protection and active restoration, have been introduced to mitigate the loss of critical reef sites (Bruno et al., 2007). Restoration accelerates reef recovery and may, in the long term, contribute to increasing resilience to environmental change.

The use of asexual propagation of corals, such as fragmentation, can rapidly increase coral cover, however, it does not directly increase genetic diversity. This mode of propagation involves dividing an existing coral colony into smaller fragments and growing them either in land-based nurseries or ocean nurseries before outplanting them onto targeted reef sites. A single-parent colony can produce a high yield of coral biomass that can be outplanted, thereby aiding in the quick recovery of degraded reefs and promoting the local recruitment of coral species (Montoya-Maya et al., 2016). Despite the advantages of this methodology, the long-term effectiveness of this method may be somewhat limited. Asexual propagation produces genetic clones of the "parent" colony. Consequently, the resulting corals are susceptible to the same stressors that affect the "parent". The replication of genotypes that could lack resistance to stress or disease may result in mortality after outplanting. If these asexually propagated corals survive for at least a few years and demonstrate fecundity, strategically outplanting fragments of a diverse range of parental colonies in closed proximity on a designated "source reef" may

facilitate fertilization success and thus potential recruitment of genetically diverse corals to distant non-restored sites (King et al., 2023).

Sexual propagation of corals, on the other hand, facilitates reef recovery through the direct production of genetically diverse recruits to be outplanted on the reef. Genetic recombination creates variation within a population, potentially leading to the production of some individuals with greater resiliency, which may allow the populations to better adapt to a changing environment. Introducing unique individuals is the initial step toward the developing of a self-sustaining population. Newly outplanted corals are prone to predation from grazing fish; in some areas, nearly all are consumed within the first 30 days of outplanting (Kopecky et al., 2021). There is evidence that coral size significantly affects the likelihood of predation, with larger coral recruits being less predated upon (Christiansen et al., 2008; Kopecky et al., 2021; Koval et al., 2020; Raymundo et al., 2004). Maximizing the size of sexual recruits available for outplanting may increase their probability of surviving and contribute to the persistence of local populations. However, the process of rearing corals from larvae to a size suitable for outplanting is laborious, time-consuming, and costly. The production of larger corals for outplanting should not entail years in an *ex situ* nursery. The expedition of the grow-out stage would be possible through the enhancement of rearing conditions such as the establishment of algal symbionts, light regimes, favorable water quality parameters, and suitable diets. By enhancing these aquaculture methods, the sexual propagation of coral *ex situ* may prove to be a valuable approach to restoring coral populations and promoting genetic resilience and diversity in reef ecosystems.

Corals form a symbiotic relationship with phototrophic dinoflagellates known as zooxanthellae of the family Symbiodiniaceae. These endosymbionts exist as free-living forms within the water column and in sediments but can also form an association with other organisms (Cumbo et al. 2012; Mote et al., 2021). Depending on the species, the acquisition of algal symbionts by corals can occur either through vertical transmission or horizontal transmission (Yamashita et al., 2014; Yamashita et al., 2021), i.e., symbionts are acquired through maternal inheritance or the environment, respectively (Yamashita et al, 2014). The larvae of most scleractinian coral species lack zooxanthellae and uptake Symbiodiniaceae through horizontal transmission (Baird et al. 2009; Schwarz et al., 1999). Corals can establish a relationship with their symbionts through ingestion (Cumbo et al., 2012). The symbionts are phagocytosed into the coral's cells which provide shelter and nutrients to the symbionts in exchange for energy from photosynthesis (Mote et al., 2021). Once the respiratory needs of the zooxanthellae are met, any surplus photosynthetic products are transported to the coral host to fuel its growth, other metabolic activities, or sexual development (Kuanui et al., 2014; Muscatine and Cernichiari, 1969).

Coral growth, their relationship to zooxanthellae, and the efficiency of photosynthesis, have been demonstrated to be influenced by the intensity of light or the density of photons (Kuanui et al., 2014; Main and Goodbody-Gringley, 2010; Rinkevich and Loya, 1984; Stambler and Dubinsky, 2005). The term light is typically used to describe the portion of the electromagnetic spectrum that is visible, also known as visible light (Osinga et al., 2008). However, the same portion of the spectrum is used by photosynthetic organisms for photosynthesis, which is called Photosynthetically Active Radiation (PAR). PAR and visible light are electromagnetic waves with wavelengths of 400 to 700 nm (Osinga et al., 2008). For corals, appropriate lighting conditions are essential for their physiology and ecology (Cheng et al., 2020). Suitable lighting plays a crucial role in the *ex situ* growth and maintenance of corals since it influences photosynthesis, which provides the energy needed for growth. While the importance of a stable symbiont community in adult scleractinian corals is well documented, the ideal light spectrum to rear newly settled corals remains an area of limited study.

Larvae and recently settled coral raised *ex situ* have been observed to exhibit a heightened sensitivity to high light irradiance (Fourney and Figueiredo, 2017). This may be related to the negative phototactic behavior displayed by larvae, which is then lost in the adult stage. The light irradiance experienced by adult corals varies with water depth and turbidity. For instance, reef-building corals found in very shallow waters are exposed to 2100 μ mol photons m⁻² s⁻¹, while corals at depths of 10m and 18m experience 400 and 25 μ mol quanta m⁻² s⁻¹, respectively (Lesser et al., 2000). While the acquisition of Symbiodiniaceae, occurs in early life stages (Schwarz & Weis, 1999; Weis et. al. 2001), the presence of pigmentation is contingent upon the establishment of an algal symbiont community (Dove et al., 2001; Kawaguti, 1944). Consequently, larvae preferentially settle in dim light areas, such as crevices of a substrate (Babcock and Mundy, 1996; Harrison and Wallace, 1990), because they lack the pigmentation and proteins necessary to shield them from the damage caused by solar radiation. High irradiance can disrupt the larvae' ability to settle resulting in oxidative stress which can be detrimental to

their survival; similar responses are observed under high temperatures (Abrego et al., 2012; Putnam et al., 2008).

For sexual recruits raised *ex situ*, light is provided through either artificial light sources or exposure to sunlight in outdoor systems. A variety of artificial light sources are used to imitate natural sunlight to provide the PAR required by zooxanthellae corals in captive settings (Osinga et al., 2008). These artificial light types have been designed to recreate the different wavelengths and intensities of light found in natural marine environments. They are also commonly used by hobbyists to highlight fluorescent pigments. Metal halide lamps and fluorescent lighting have been commonly favored choices, though recent advancements in technology have prompted a swift transition towards LED lighting among hobbyists and researchers alike (Osinga et al., 2008). Each type of artificial light source presents a unique set of advantages and disadvantages that are crucial to consider. Metal halide lamps are singular light sources that offer a scattering effect reminiscent of natural sunlight. Fluorescent lighting creates a diffuse and even light pattern (Osinga et al., 2008). In comparison, LED lighting offers uniform illumination and an extensive range of customization. The manipulation of light spectra can be achieved easily using computer and mobile applications that allow manual adjustment or by changing the Kelvin settings. Kelvin is a unit used to measure the color temperature of light, with lower values indicating warmer light with longer wavelengths, such as red, and higher values indicating cooler, blue light. The use of LED lighting for coral grow-out offers several advantages over other lighting forms, including energy efficiency, customizability, uniformity of illumination, and the ability to adjust light spectra to cater to specific needs. This flexibility is particularly useful for adjusting to the needs of corals at different stages of development.

Juvenile corals initially exhibit greater survival rates under low light levels, such as those not exceeding 20 µmol photons m⁻² s⁻¹ (Abrego et al.,2012; Fourney and Figueiredo, 2017). As corals mature, their light irradiance requirements increase, aligning with the establishment of an algal symbiont community (Krebs et al., 2019; McMahon et al., 2018). This increase in irradiance is closer to the conditions found at reef depth (5-10 m), typically 150-200 µmol photons m⁻²s⁻¹ (Lesser et al., 2000; Sinniger et al., 2019). The optimal light spectrum to rear coral recruits has not yet been investigated. Coral recruits in *ex situ* nurseries have been reared indoors under artificial lights that mimic light irradiance and spectrum typical on the reef (often using the light manufacturer's setting for a specific region) and outdoors under natural light (using shade cloths to reduce light irradiance). However, rearing corals outdoors exposes corals to an atypical light spectrum. Since the outdoor tanks commonly used in nurseries are relatively shallow, they allow for the presence of light waves that would otherwise be absorbed with greater depth, such as those within the red and orange portions of the light spectrum, while corals in natural ocean settings are exposed to a broad blue spectrum. As zooxanthellae have evolved in tandem with the spectral characteristics of their environments, the growth and health of cultured corals may be negatively impacted by exposure to an "unnatural" light spectrum. Concomitantly, aquarium hobbyists claim that a light spectrum richer in blue (more than what is measured on the reefs) promotes faster growth of corals. The chlorophyll, the primary pigment used in photosynthesis, in Symbiodiniaceae can readily absorb wavelengths of 440nm to 675nm. The wavelength of blue light is between 450 nm to 495nm hence why photosynthesis may be more successful under blue light. Conversely, red lighting appears to yield less favorable results, with corals exposed to blue light displaying higher survival rates and greater Symbiodiniaceae density than those exposed to red light (Kinzie et al., 1984; Wijgerde et al., 2014). Therefore, it is possible that certain lighting regimes promote the highest efficiency for photosynthesis and, in turn, enhance coral growth and health. Nonetheless, the application of blue-shifted light during early grow-out, i.e. the first 12-16 weeks after settlement, is yet to be quantitatively assessed.

This study was designed to evaluate the effects of different light spectra on coral recruits, aiming to assess their impact on both survival and growth during early grow-out. Ultimately, the objective is to scale-up coral production by optimizing the grow-out period of corals, allowing for the cultivation of corals within a reduced timeframe thereby, enhancing the efficacy of coral restoration efforts. Specifically, this research seeks to identify the optimal light spectrum to increase the number and reduce the time required to raise sexually-produced corals in land-based nurseries or increase the size of genetically diverse corals to outplant. By testing different light spectra, this research has the potential to contribute to the success of conservation strategies aimed at preserving invaluable coral reef ecosystems.

Methods

Spawning, larval rearing and settlement

Pseudodiploria strigosa and *P. clivosa* are two abundant species of hermaphroditic broadcast-spawning scleractinian coral found in the Caribbean. These species are anticipated to spawn a week after the full moon in August (Acosta et al., 1997). On August 8, 2022, *P. strigosa* spawned at the Florida Aquarium (FLAQ)'s Center for Conservation in Apollo Beach, Florida, and *P. clivosa* spawned at the University of North Carolina Wilmington (UNCW) on August 17, 2022 (Table S1). After fertilization, larvae were reared until they started rotating (2 days) and were then transported to Nova Southeastern University's Oceanographic Campus in Dania, Florida, in a 0.96 L wide mouth leak-proof plastic bottles. To ensure that no larvae were lost upon lid removal, the bottle was gently agitated to encourage the buoyant larvae at the top to sink before opening the bottle. Next, the larvae were washed using 6 L of filtered artificial seawater to remove any unwanted debris and to change the water they were transported in, thus reducing the chances of bio contamination. After rinsing, the competency of coral larvae were inspected by observing their ability to swim.

Swimming larvae were counted and subsequently placed into rectangular settlement tray and maintained at 28°C using a water bath (Figure 1). Each container's bottom surface was entirely covered with Ocean Wonders Ceramic Coral Frag Tiles (31.75mm × 31.75mm × 7.9mm) which provided a hard substrate for the larvae to settle upon. These tiles were conditioned for six weeks prior to the spawning period by immersing them in tanks that housed adult corals, thereby fostering the growth of a biofilm that induces settlement of larvae. As planulae display a preference for settling in substrate crevices (Harrison and Wallace, 1990; Peterson et al., 2005), the textured side of the tiles was positioned facing upwards within the settlement trays. Furthermore, crustose coralline algae (CCA), a secondary settlement cue, was gathered from tanks containing adult colonies, crushed into a fine dust with a mortar and pestle, and then dispersed onto the textured tiles using a 3 mL pipette. To assess the occurrence of settlement and metamorphosis, tiles from each settlement tray were observed once every 24 hours under an Olympic SZ51 stereoscope.



Figure 1. Settlement tray (left) and larval settlement system (right).

The settlement trays used were rectangular plastic bins with circular 10 cm holes cut out along each long side, covered by 105 μ m mesh to permit water exchange and prevent larvae loss. Larval settlement system was equipped with PVC racks used to hold the trays in place.

Recruit rearing

After larvae settled and metamorphosed, the tiles were randomly assigned to one of three adult coral colony tanks for a four-week period, allowing for the acquisition of zooxanthellae shed by the adults. Each tank was equipped with a four Radion XR30 G5 PRO LED light fixtures and black polystyrene curtains, which separated the young recruits from the adult counterparts and prevented the excess light from fixtures above the adults, which would be too intense for the recruits. To prevent damage to the young recruits, the irradiance was regulated using the Ecotech Mobius app since they are particularly sensitive to irradiance at this stage. A week after settlement, the LED lights were adjusted to 20 μ mol photons m⁻² s⁻¹, and each week, the PAR was increased to 10 μ mol photons m⁻² s⁻¹ until moved to experimental tanks at the start of week 5 (Table 1). PAR was measured using a LI-COR LI-250A Light Meter, positioned at the

same depth as the corals. Each conditioned tile, containing 3-8 recruits, was trimmed to remove any vacant surrounding space using tile nippers. Then, it was adhered to an unconditioned tile marked with a unique identification label that randomly assigned it to a light treatment (Figure 2). One week prior to the placing of the tiles in the outdoor tanks, the recruits on the selected tiles were photographed and mapped (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Tile maps

Conditioned tile with recruits were glued on top of an unconditioned tile labeled with an identification label (left). Map drawings of tiles (right) with tile identification, coral position and number of each recruit per tile.

Experimental set up

The investigation spanned a period of nine weeks and was carried out in two distinct, but equally equipped, outdoor water systems (Tanks E and F). Each system comprised a large, recirculating fiberglass tank measuring 3.05 m × 1.07 m × 0.61 m and a sump. The tank raceway, which incorporated a chiller and two titanium heaters, held 911 L of UV sterilized artificial seawater maintained at a temperature of 28°C. Additionally, water flow was evenly distributed throughout the tank using three small submersible water pumps situated at the front, middle, and end of the tank. Water in the sump underwent biological, mechanical and chemical filtration using two bags of bioballs, a protein skimmer (Red Sea RSK 900 Reefer Internal Protein Skimmer), and a carbon filter (PhosBan Reactor 150). Phosphate and alkalinity levels were maintained with the help of a phosphate reactor (PhosBan Reactor 550) and a calcium reactor (AquaMaxx cTech T-2 Calcium Reactor), supplemented by manual adjustments of alkalinity, calcium and magnesium as necessary to maintain healthy level for corals. Water recirculation between the sump and the raceway was achieved using a circulation pump (MRC LP4200 HydroTek). Overhead shade structures provided coverage for the outdoor raceways, which allowed for the draping of blackout curtains and shade cloths.

The coral juveniles were randomly assigned to a treatment group and subjected to a specific light spectrum: natural sunlight with near-surface (tank depth) spectrum (treatment S), LED light mimicking a spectrum at reef depth (approximately 3m) (treatment R), and LED with blue-shifted light spectrum (treatment B). Each tank was divided into three equal sections, with two-thirds of each tank covered by a blackout tarp, necessitating the use of overhead light fixtures (Radion XR30 G5 PRO LED), except for the section allocated to treatment S, which was illuminated naturally but covered with a shade cloth (Figure 3 & 4). The cloth reduced the irradiance but did not alter the light spectrum, which remained consistent with the spectrum present at the tank's depth.

The LED light fixtures hung 53.34 centimeters from the bottom of the tank, providing specifically regimented light sources for treatments B and S. Black shower curtains were installed to partition each section within the tank and prevent bleed-over from neighboring light treatments (Figure S3). LED treatments followed a programmed schedule with the same sun rise/set and moon intensities based on time, date, and location to ensure all treatments followed the same day night schedule. The photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) was increased

incrementally by 10 μ mol photons m⁻² s⁻¹ weekly using Ecotech's Mobius app (Table 1). In treatment B, the point intensity slider was raised to achieve increased PAR, while in treatment R, irradiance was increased using a combination of point intensity and Kelvin (Table S3, Figure S2 and S3). However, by ten weeks post- settlement, the maximum threshold for treatment R was reached, preventing the increase in PAR without increasing Kelvin too high (Table S3, Figure S3). Consequently, the PAR had to remain at 110 PAR between weeks ten to fourteen for LED treatments. The irradiance in treatment S was controlled by utilizing shade cloths of varying reduction levels. A shade cloth that reduced irradiance by 75% covered the tanks between weeks five and seven, which was then replaced by a 50% reduction cloth starting from week eight until the end of the experiment. The entire light spectra experiment comprised 480 juvenile coral individuals, with each outdoor tank containing 86 P. strigosa and 74 P. clivosa juveniles per treatment group. All corals were target-fed a slurry four times a week, consisting of 1.1 grams of Polyp Lab's Reef Roids, 1.1 grams of Aquatic Food's Golden Pearls (5-50µm), 1 mL American Marine Selcon, 9 mL Brightwells Aquatics CoralAminos, and rotifers enriched with RotiGrowTM Plus (~1 hr prior to feeding) diluted in 0.5 L of seawater. The food was prepared in a plastic 3L pitcher and distributed using a 3 mL pipette for targeted feeding for the duration of the study.



Figure 3. Experimental set up.

One of two outdoor tanks (Tank E, on the left) with a black out tarp covering the LED lights for the Blue-shifted spectrum (B) and Reef-depth spectrum (R), and a shade cloth covering the Sunlight (S) treatment. The set up on the right illustrates the treatment arrangement within each tank, with black shower curtains separating each light treatment to prevent bleed-over. Both tanks follow the same light treatment sequence: Blue-shifted on the inflow side, Reef-depth in the middle, and Sunlight on the outflow side of the tank.

Table 1. LED Photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) regime for weeks 1-14 post- settlement. Corals were exposed to different light treatments between the ages of 5-14 weeks post-settlement.

| Week | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | 13 | 14 |
|--|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| PAR (µmol photons m ⁻² s ⁻¹) | 20 | 30 | 40 | 50 | 60 | 70 | 80 | 90 | 100 | 110 | 110 | 110 | 110 | 110 |



Figure 4. Coral juveniles under to LED blue-shifted (left), LED reef-depth (middle), and sunlight near-surface (right) spectra.

Each rack each held 17 tiles, eight of which contained *P. clivosa* (37 corals total) and nine contained *P. strigosa* corals (43 corals total) per treatment. Images taken at 14-weeks postsettlement on Tank E.

Routine care

To maintain a healthy environment for the corals, temperature and salinity were monitored and recorded daily. To prevent excess algae growth, a cleaning routine was implemented for both the tiles and tanks. The tiles were cleaned once a week between 1-4 weeks post-settlement, and twice a week once placed in outdoor systems. The tiles were transferred into a 12.7 cm x 10.16 cm x 15.24 cm rectangular container placed under an Olympic SZ51 stereoscope, minimizing the risk of puncturing the coral tissue during cleaning. The algae on tiles was removed using an angled eyeliner brush and a needle attached to a syringe. The walls and floor of the outdoor tanks were scraped off using a razor with a plastic blade weekly. In addition to algal removal, a portion of the water in the tank was siphoned out and replaced with new seawater to maintain water quality. The water quality in the tanks, i.e. the levels of calcium, alkalinity, phosphate, ammonium, nitrates, and nitrites, was monitored once a week. *Survivorship and growth measurements*

Throughout the 9-week duration of the study, meticulous data on the survival and growth of coral juveniles were recorded weekly. To enable effective observation, tiles were purged of excess algae one day prior to data collection. These tiles were placed in a 12.7 cm x 10.16 cm x 15.24 cm rectangular container containing a 600mL of seawater with the addition of 2 mL of Coral Aminos to promote the expansion and opening of coral juveniles for measurement (Figure 5). Surface area measurements were taken at each time point using the advanced CellSens image analysis program, which allowed for the measurement of each juvenile's surface area, while excluding tentacles (Figure 6). In addition to these measurements, tile maps were employed to systematically monitor and track the fate of individual juveniles, thus enabling insights into the mortality of each species under different treatment conditions.



Figure 5. Weekly growth measurement and survivorship assessments. A plastic container was used to hold tiles under a stereoscope for weekly growth measurements and survival assessments using CellSens software.



Figure 6. CellSens software

Corals were photographed and traced carefully using measurement tool. Image shows *P. clivosa* at 10 weeks post-settlement. Measurements did not include tentacles.

Data analysis

To investigate the effect of light spectra and species (fixed factors) on survival over time, a survival analysis, specifically a Cox proportional hazard model, was used. The Kaplan-Meier estimator was utilized to generate survival curves and visualize mortality among treatment groups.

A generalized linear mixed effect model (GLMM) with a Gamma distribution and a log link function was used to compare the growth of juvenile corals (surface area over nine weeks) among different light spectra treatments. A GLMM was chosen to account for the effects of random factors, including the random intercept and slope of tile and individual coral, which may cause variation over time. The most complex model was built, including all fixed predictors (light spectrum, species, and time) and their interactions. A backward stepwise method was used to remove non-significant and multicollinear variables and interactions from the model.

All statistical analyses were conducted using R version 3.5.1 (RPubs with code for all analysis in Supplementary Material).

Spectral analysis

Spectral measurements were performed using the Ocean Insight Flame Spectrometer and analyzed with OceanView software. These measurements were conducted in another tank with an identical experimental setup, replicating the exact conditions of each light treatment at 5 and 14 weeks post-settlement. This involved matching the light fixture height and water depth. The Mobius application was utilized to replicate the settings for the LED treatments (Figure S2 & S3), ensuring they aligned with the target PAR levels (Table 1). PAR was measured using a LI-COR LI-250A Light Meter, positioned at the same depth as the spectrometer. To minimize potential interference of sunlight during LED treatment spectral measurements, tests were conducted at night. Sunlight measurements were taken within the same tank, at noon. Shade cloths were strategically employed to adjust sunlight PAR until the sensor's depth reached the target readings. Spectral measurements for each light treatment at 60 PAR and 110 PAR were visualized using R version 3.5.1.

Results

Survival

Survival differed significantly between species (p-value = 6×10^{-3}). *Pseudodiploria strigosa* had higher survival rates compared to *Pseudodiploria clivosa*. Additionally, *P. clivosa* consistently exhibited smaller sizes and higher mortality rates across treatments, in contrast to *P. strigosa*. At 95% confidence level, survival among light spectra treatments could not be considered statistically significant, but since the same exact ranking of light spectra was observed in both species and the p-value for this test (p-value = 0.086) was very close to rejection threshold (0.05) and would be considered significant if a 90% confidence level had been applied. Therefore, we will report the results as at least indicative of a likely trend that requires further investigation. Both species exhibited the highest survival rates when exposed to sunlight at surface depth, with *P. strigosa* displaying 97.7% survival and *P. clivosa* exhibiting 83.8% survival. Following this, the blue-shifted spectrum showed the next highest survival rates, with 84.9% for *P. strigosa* and 83.8% for *P. clivosa*. The reef-depth spectrum exhibited the lowest but still notable survival rates, with *P. strigosa* at 84.9% and *P. clivosa* at 71.6% (Figure 7 and 8).

Table 2. Cox proportional hazards model investigating the effect of light spectrum and species on the survival of individuals over time. The total sample size (n) was 480 with 73 events (deaths) observed. The results show that species had a significant different survival ($p = 6 \times 10^{-3}$), but light spectrum did not have significantly affected it (p = 0.086).

| | coef | exp(coef) | se(coef) | Z | Pr(> z) |
|----------------|---------|-----------|----------|--------|--------------------|
| Light spectrum | -0.2463 | 0.7817 | 0.1433 | -1.719 | 0.086 |
| Species | -0.6622 | 0.5157 | 0.2407 | -2.751 | 6×10 ⁻³ |



Figure 7. Probability of survival of Pseudodiploria strigosa juveniles over time. Survival curves generated using Kaplan-Meier estimator. Among treatments, thirteen mortalities were observed under Blue-shifted and Reef-depth spectrum, while only two occurred under the Sunlight spectrum at surface depth (n=258).



Figure 8. Probability of survival Pseudodiploria clivosa recruits over time.

Survival curves generated using Kaplan-Meier estimator. Among treatments, the Reef-depth spectrum resulted in highest mortality, with twenty-one mortalities. While, twelve mortalities were observed under the Blue-shifted and Sunlight spectrum at surface depth (n=222).

Growth

Coral size varied significantly over time between light spectrum, species, and their interactions. Specifically, the effect of light spectrum treatment on coral surface area is significant (df= 2, p-value: 8.166×10^{-4}), as is the effect of species (df= 1, p-value= 7.116×10^{-8}) and age (df=1, p-value= 3.823×10^{-14}). Furthermore, the interactions between treatment and age (df:2, p-value= 2.949×10^{-4}) and species and age (df=1, p-value= 2.769×10^{-5}) were significant (Table 3).

By the end of the experiment (fourteen weeks post-settlement), P. strigosa and P. clivosa individuals under LED reef-depth light spectrum were the largest $(1.22 \pm 0.80 \text{ mm}^2 \text{ and } 1.06 \text{ mm}^2)$ ± 0.83 mm², respectively) (Figure 9). Those under LED blue-shifted light spectrum were very closely sized (1.33 ± 0.84 mm² and 0.90 ± 0.69 mm², respectively), while the smallest were those receiving sunlight near-surface spectrum (0.91 \pm 0.53 mm² and 0.56 \pm 0.39 mm², respectively). However, *P. strigosa* displayed a higher average surface area $(0.57 \pm 0.014 \text{ mm}^2)$, since the beginning of the experiment, five-weeks post-settlement. While P. clivosa tended to be below average $(0.48 \pm 0.018 \text{ mm}^2)$ (Figure 9) and, for each species, the average size among treatments also differed. The differences in coral size at the end of the experiment (14 weeks postsettlement) is not indicative of the effect of the light spectrum on growth. Instead, a more accurate indication of their effect can be observed by comparing growth rates, which involved calculating the change in surface area (mm²) over time (week), represented by the slope of the models. Blue-shifted light spectrum treatment led to significantly faster growth on both species (*P. strigosa*: 4.86×10^{-2} mm² week⁻¹; *P. clivosa*: 1.47×10^{-2} mm² week⁻¹) compared to the sunlight at surface depth light spectrum treatment (P. strigosa: 2.16×10⁻² mm² week⁻¹, P. clivosa: - $4.08 \times 10^{-3} \text{ mm}^2 \text{ week}^{-1}$, p = 4.0×10^{-4} ; p = 8.0×10^{-4} , respectively; Table 4) but were not significantly different from the growth under the reef-depth light spectrum (*P. strigosa:* 4.04×10^{-10} 2 mm² week⁻¹; *P. clivosa*: 7.43×10⁻³ mm²week⁻¹, p=0.4880 and p=0.4880 respectively)(Figure 10).



Figure 9. Surface area (mm²) of corals over time for Pseudodiploria clivosa (top row) and Pseudodiploria strigosa (bottom row) under different light spectrum treatments. Dots represent the observations and the line represents the best fit model.

| | Chisq | Df | Pr(>Chisq) |
|-----------------|--------|----|-------------------------|
| Treatment | 14.221 | 2 | 8.166×10 ⁻⁴ |
| Species | 29.033 | 1 | 7.116×10 ⁻⁸ |
| Time | 57.258 | 1 | 3.823×10 ⁻¹⁴ |
| Treatment: Time | 16.258 | 2 | 2.949×10 ⁻⁴ |
| Species: Time | 17.570 | 1 | 2.769×10 ⁻⁵ |

Table 3. Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chi-square tests) of the simplified model. An ANOVA was performed on the Generalized Linear Mixed Model used to analyze growth of corals over time. All predictors had a significant effect on growth.





Generalized linear mixed effects model used to predict the surface area of *P. strigosa* and *P. clivosa* from ages 5-14 weeks post-settlement under various light spectra.

Table 4. Pairwise comparison of the effects of light spectrum on the growth of P. clivosa and P. strigosa.

This output is the result of running a pairwise comparison *using `emmeans` R package* of the effects of three different treatments (LED blue-shifted spectrum, LED reef-depth spectrum, and sunlight at surface spectrum) on two different species (*P. clivosa* and *P. strigosa*). Contrast that shows significant differences between the treatment and species pairing are emphasized with bolded *p*-values. Positive estimate values signify that the first paring exhibits a larger size relative to the second pairing, whereas negative values indicate that the second factor surpasses the first pairing in size.

| contrast | estimate | SE | df | t.ratio | р- |
|---|----------|---------|------|---------|--------|
| | | | | | value |
| Blue-shifted P. clivosa – Reef-depth P. clivosa | 0.01857 | 0.01052 | 4345 | 1.766 | 0.4880 |
| Blue- shifted P. clivosa - Sunlight P. clivosa | 0.04159 | 0.01035 | 4345 | 4.018 | 0.0008 |
| Reef-depth P. clivosa – Sunlight P. clivosa | 0.02302 | 0.01047 | 4345 | 2.199 | 0.2383 |
| Blue-shifted P. strigosa - Sunlight P. strigosa | 0.04159 | 0.01035 | 4345 | 4.018 | 0.0008 |
| Blue-shifted P. strigosa - Reef-depth P. strigosa | 0.01857 | 0.01052 | 4345 | 1.766 | 0.4880 |
| Reef-depth P. strigosa - Sunlight P. strigosa | 0.02302 | 0.01047 | 4345 | 2.199 | 0.2383 |
| Blue-shifted <i>P. clivosa</i> – Blue-shifted <i>P.</i> strigosa | -0.03584 | 0.00855 | 4345 | -4.190 | 0.0004 |
| Reef-depth P. clivosa – Reef-depth P. strigosa | -0.03584 | 0.00855 | 4345 | -4.190 | 0.0004 |
| Sunlight P. clivosa - Sunlight P. strigosa | -0.03584 | 0.00855 | 4345 | -4.190 | 0.0004 |

Discussion

Manipulating light spectrum allows optimization of the grow-out of juvenile corals. Corals under sunlight at surface depth exhibited higher survival but grew slower indicating a potential trade-off between survival and growth under a light environment in which photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) naturally fluctuates. Corals exposed to LED blueshifted light spectrum and LED reef-depth spectrum exhibited faster growth during grow-out. Recruits of the species *P. clivosa* had a smaller initial size and experienced significantly higher mortality rates during grow-out compared to *P. strigosa*, suggesting a potential size advantage for survival between species.

Corals grown under LED lights had, on average, faster growth rates than corals grown under sunlight. Both reef-depth light spectrum and blue-shifted light spectrum demonstrated comparable effects on coral growth throughout the study. The LED lights were programmed to replicate certain environmental light parameters that the corals under sunlight experienced specifically, the same photoperiod. This replication included a gradual ramping up of light intensity from morning to peak sun and corresponding decrease from afternoon to sunset. The lighting schedule also considered moonlight, adjusting its intensity per the current phase of the moon. However, the uninterrupted and constant irradiance provided by the LED lights during the daytime offers them greater stability and an advantage over corals exposed to sunlight. The LED lights closely adhered to the intended target irradiance levels for each subsequent week (Table 1), a consistency that shade cloths could not achieve (Table S2). Weekly PAR readings (Table S2) revealed that corals exposed to natural sunlight experienced greater changes in irradiance. These fluctuations can be attributed to various influencing factors such as cloud cover, shading from the nearby building, or even the tank walls at specific times of the day. Such variations in light availability impact the energy supply accessible to corals and can potentially induce stress. In contrast, an environment with consistent irradiance enables corals to optimize their energy acquisition and allocation strategies, maintain their symbiotic relationships, and reduce stress, thereby facilitating growth and calcification over time. Consequently, the stability provided by LED lights, characterized by precise and consistent irradiance in the daytime, created a more favorable condition for growth and support for metabolic activities, in contrast to the fluctuating light conditions experienced by corals under sunlight.

The LED blue-shifted spectrum promoted a significantly higher growth rate in corals compared to those exposed to sunlight. Corals are adapted to utilize the available light in their environment, particularly blue light, which can penetrate deeper into the water column compared to other visible colors (Mass et al., 2010). Chlorophyll a, the primary photosynthetic pigment of the coral symbiont, zooxanthellae, exhibits its highest absorption peak within a large part of the blue region of the light spectrum (Szabó et al., 2014), highlighting its critical role in driving biochemical reactions (Cheng et al., 2020; Ralph et al., 2004; Szabó et al., 2014; Wangpraseurt et al., 2019;). Blue light has also been demonstrated to increase zooxanthellae density, chlorophyll a content, photosynthesis, and calcification rates, which all contribute to coral growth (Cohen et al., 2015; D'Angelo et al., 2008; Kinzie et al. 1984; Wijgerde et al., 2014;). The influence of blue light has been shown to be particularly important for zooxanthellae, specifically by influencing photosynthesis (Cohen et al., 2015; D'Angelo et al., 2008; Kinzie et al. 1984; Kinzie et al. 1987; Izumi et al., 2023; Wijgerde et al., 2014). This intricate relationship between coral host and their photosynthetic symbionts is a crucial determinant of coral growth and likely underlies the observed growth-promoting effects of the blue-shifted light spectrum (Cohen et al., 2015; D'Angelo et al., 2008; Kinzie et al. 1984; Izumi et al., 2023; Wijgerde et al.,2014). In comparison, the sunlight spectrum at tank depth exposes corals with higher intensity red wavelengths (Figure S5 and Figure S6), which are not commonly experienced at reef-depth (5-10 m). The rapid attenuation of red light within the water column occurs at an approximate depth range of 1-5 m (Osinga et al., 2004). Chlorophyll a can absorb red light and utilize it for photosynthesis (Wijgerde et al., 2014), potentially contributing to the promotion of coral health and growth by facilitating the production of certain pigments and protective compounds. However, excessive quantities of red light can yield adverse effects such as decreased rates of zooxanthellae reproduction, repression of chlorophyll a synthesis, and instances of bleaching and necrosis (Cheng et al., 2020; Kinzie et al. 1984; Kinzie et al. 1987; Wang et al., 2008; Wijgerde et al., 2014). The differential growth observed between corals exposed to sunlight and those under LED treatments may be attributed to the higher abundance of red, orange, and green wavelengths which may repress survival and growth (Kinzie et al. 1984; Wang et al., 2008; Wijgerde et al., 2014). Conversely, corals exposed to a light spectrum with a higher proportion of shorter wavelengths, such as the blue-shifted spectrum, exhibited faster growth over the span of nine weeks. Growth rate, as measured by the slope of surface area over time, is a key indicator of coral growth, with a steeper slope indicating faster growth. Furthermore, the reef-depth light spectrum treatment may be a viable alternative to near surface sunlight for growth as it includes more blue wavelengths and fewer red and green. The potential trade-off between energy allocation towards growth and survival should be considered as well. For instance, a coral must balance the energetic demands of building their skeletons and tissue, which promote growth, with the need to maintain basic physiological functions, defense, or adaptation, which are crucial to survival. In this context, the type of light environment that corals are exposed to can have an impact on their energy allocation patterns.

Corals under sunlight at surface depth were observed to be darker and smaller than those exposed to the LED blue-shifted spectrum (Figure S1). The adaptive response of corals to their environment involves the regulation of zooxanthellae types and quantities they harbor (Falkowski et al., 1984; Hoogenboom et al., 2012; Levy et al., 2003; Tagliafico et al., 2022). In habitats characterized by reduced light, such as shaded or mesophotic environments, corals tend to have higher zooxanthellae densities compared to those in well-lit areas to enhance light absorption (Titlyanov, 1991). However, self-shading also serves as a response to high light levels and offers UV protection (Roth et al., 1988). The observed changes in pigmentation may potentially be attributed to stress induced by low or high UV radiation, or fluctuation between the two. Furthermore, the heightened intensities of red light within the sunlight spectrum may have imposed additional stress. The compounds produced by corals, apart from primary metabolites which are involved in essential processes such as photosynthesis, respiration, and nutrient uptake (Ferrier-Pages et al., 2010; Suggett et al., 2017; Wangpraseurt et al., 2019), play additional roles that offer benefits the organism. These benefits include defense against predators, competition for resources, or adaptation to environmental stressors (Bayer et al., 2012). These compounds, referred to as secondary metabolites, serves functions that are not directly involved in the primary metabolic process. Therefore, it is plausible that the corals under sunlight may have been allocating their energy resources toward the maintenance of their symbionts as an adaptation to their light environment, as a survival strategy rather than allocating energy towards growth. This energy allocation pattern may explain the observed lower growth rates in the sunlight treatment but higher survival rates compared to the other LED treatments, albeit not significant. To enhance the comprehensiveness of this study, evaluating coral pigmentation, quantification of Zooxanthellae per coral cell, and conducting more frequent PAR

measurements (specifically in the sunlight at surface depth treatment) would have provided valuable in evaluating health, identifying stress thereby facilitating a deeper exploration of the trade-offs between survival and growth dynamics.

Interspecific differences in survival and growth of coral recruits were observed, with P. *strigosa* exhibiting a larger size average at settlement, potentially providing them an advantage (Ligson et. al., 2022). While P. strigosa survived more than P. clivosa it was uncertain whether this was due to genetic advantages, size advantage, or other factors. A genetic advantage would suggest that *P. strigosa* recruits are better adapted to the aquarium environment and may possess genetic traits that are specific to the species or genotype of the *P. strigosa* larvae in this study. These traits could allow them to cope better with stress than P. clivosa. A size advantage would indicate the relationship between size, energy content, and food capture could have provided large recruits a competitive advantage over smaller ones. Similar to larvae, larger coral recruits typically possess higher lipid energy reserves, allowing them to better withstand and cope with challenges from environmental stressors (Richmond & Hunter, 1990; Wiesner & Lasker, 2017). Although larger corals may possess more energy, they also come with potential physiological costs. For example, larger corals may have increased respiratory and energy demands for tissue regeneration and calcification (Keister, 2023) but this could be compensated by better feeding ability. In addition, the origin of the larvae used may have influenced their health and development, as the health of the newly settled coral is closely tied to the conditions experienced as larvae and the health of the parental colonies (Hartmann et al., 2017; Richmond et al., 2018). Diet plays a role in this relationship, as corals accumulate energy reserves through photosynthesis and nutrient uptake prior to spawning. Providing a diet that supports the production of viable gametes containing ample lipid reserves is vital for the early development of larvae. The transportation of larvae from the Florida Aquarium (FLAQ) to the Oceanographic Campus (NSU), with a travel time of 4 hours, and from the University of North Carolina (UNCW) via priority one-day shipping may have introduced varying stress levels to the larvae. P. clivosa larvae from UNCW, experiencing a prolonged travel time, might have incurred higher energy expenditure during the larval stage in comparison to P. strigosa larvae from FLAQ. Stressed larvae generally exhibit reduced survival rates compared to unstressed individuals, and increased vulnerability during this phase can lead to higher mortality rates (Hughes et al., 2019; Ross et al., 2013). Additionally, the *P. clivosa* larvae were four days older than *P.* strigosa (Table

S1) and the transportation-induced delay in settlement prolonged the period of stress during which their energy reserves are depleting (Graham et al., 2013). These stressors can have latent repercussions, such as growth impairment, persisting throughout the life of the corals by depleting energy reserves and resulting in reduced growth rates. Growth impairments can impact the corals' ability to effectively compete for resources (Ritson-Williams et al., 2016; Ross et. al., 2013). In summary, the observed differences in survival and growth between coral species can be influenced by a combination of genetic factors, size advantages, energy reserves, larval health, and stress. These factors collectively shape the trajectories of coral recruits and have implication for their long-term survival and resilience in dynamic ecosystems.

Differential algal growth between treatments was expected to impact coral survival and growth as the rapid accumulation of algae was observed on tiles, racks, and tank walls, specifically under the LED reef-depth light spectrum (Figure S4) and blue-shifted spectrum, especially the latter. While blue-shifted spectra are produced faster coral growth, algae also exhibited accelerated growth rates. This could be attributed to the consistent PAR levels maintained under LED treatments, which inadvertently promoted algal growth. To mitigate the effects of algal overgrowth, biweekly tile cleaning, and weekly tank maintenance were deemed necessary to prevent algal smothering, which can impede coral survivorship. It is worth considering that accumulated algae on tiles beneath the LED lights may result extended cleaning time, potentially leading to more frequent occurrences of acute shock over time when transferring corals out of their holding aquarium or during the process of algal removal. However, the exact effects of such conditions are poorly explored. Acknowledging the impact of environmental conditions on coral recruits' physiology and immune system, including the presence of algae, is essential. These conditions could potentially alter growth rates and reduced survivorship (Thompson et al., 2014). Algal overgrowth poses a dual threat to corals, as it competes for space and nutrients, while also contributing to degraded water quality (Bellwood et al., 2004; Brown et al., 2018). The application of LED lights to accelerate coral grow-out must, therefore, be accompanied by a methodical cleaning regimen to avoid algal overgrowth-induced mortality and competition. These findings also highlight the trade-off between fast coral growth and maintenance requirements and raise important questions about the feasibility and efficiency of optimizing grow-out for reproduction. In this study, no herbivores such as snails and urchins

were introduced to assist with algae control. Future research should explore strategies, such as the introduction of herbivores, to mitigate the labor costs associated with faster growth.

This study represents a novel contribution to the field of coral research, as it is the first to investigate the impact of light spectrum on the survival and growth of juvenile coral whereas, previous studies focused on the effect of irradiance and spectra on adult coral (Abrego et al., 2012; Cheng et al., 2020; Cohen et al., 2015; D'Angelo et al., 2008; Dove et al., 2001; Izumi et al., 2023; Kinzie et al., 1984; Krebs et al., 2019; Osinga et al., 2008; Wijgerde et al., 2014). The outcomes of this study can be utilized to promote the survival and growth of corals during growout and possess important implications for the conservation and restoration of coral reefs. While blue light was found to be the most effective in promoting growth, it is critical to consider other factors, such as survivorship, when designing coral culture systems or restoring coral reefs. In other words, prioritizing growth rate alone may not always result in the most successful or sustainable outcomes, if other factors, such as algal overgrowth, are neglected. Further research is also needed to fully comprehend the underlying mechanisms behind these results, such as the interaction between symbiont densities and light treatment. Thus, all factors that can affect coral health and survival must be considered when making such decisions. By identifying the most effective light treatment for promoting coral growth and survival, this research offers valuable insights that can be used to guide the design of coral culture systems and coral reef restoration efforts.

Supplementary Material



Figure S1. Microscopic images of corals under different lights treatments at fourteen weeks postsettlement.

The top row (S) show corals exposed to sunlight at surface-depth, the middle row (R) shows corals exposed to LED reef-depth light spectrum treatment (11,100 Kelvin), and the bottom row shows corals in the LED blue- shifted light spectrum treatment (20,000 Kelvin). All images are shown at the same scale (200 um) and includes three individuals of each coral species, *P. strigosa* (right column) and *P. clivosa* (left column).

Table S1. Spawning and settlement details.P. strigosa settled 40 hours after spawning and P. clivosa recruits settled 87 hours after spawning.

| | LOCATION | SPAWNING | SETTLEMENT |
|-------------|-------------------|------------|------------|
| | | DATE | DATE |
| P. STRIGOSA | Florida | 6:45PM on | 8/22/2022 |
| | Aquarium's Center | 8/20/2022 | |
| | for Conservation | | |
| | (Apollo Beach, | | |
| | Florida) | | |
| P. CLIVOSA | University of | 12:00AM on | 8/20/2022 |
| | North Carolina | 8/17/2022 | |
| | Wilmington | | |

| Age of coral (weeks post-settlement) | TANK | | PAR/treatme | nt |
|---|------|--------------|-------------------|----------|
| | | Blue-shifted | Reef-depth | Sunlight |
| 5 | Е | 61 | 61 | 50 |
| | F | 62 | 61 | 75 |
| 6 | Е | 73 | 73 | 65 |
| | F | 71 | 73 | 80 |
| 7 | Е | 80 | 79 | 99 |
| | F | 79 | 79 | 105 |
| 8 | Е | 90 | 90 | 40 |
| | F | 90 | 90 | 59 |
| 9 | E | 103 | 99 | 98 |
| | F | 105 | 100 | 101 |
| 10 | Е | 110 | 108 | 78 |
| | F | 109 | 112 | 93 |
| 11 | E | 110 | 108 | 115 |
| | F | 109 | 112 | 107 |
| 12 | Е | 110 | 108 | 101 |
| | F | 109 | 112 | 115 |
| 13 | E | 110 | 108 | 95 |
| | F | 109 | 112 | 120 |
| 14 | Е | 110 | 108 | 80 |
| | F | 109 | 112 | 93 |

Table S2. Irradiance recordings during experimental weeks (5-14).

| Age (weeks post-settlement) | LED Spectrum Settings (Kelvin) | | | | | |
|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|--------------|--|--|--|--|
| (weeks post-settlement) | Reef-depth | Blue-shifted | | | | |
| 5 | 7,000K | 20,000K | | | | |
| 6 | 8,000K | 20,000K | | | | |
| 7 | 8,300K | 20,000K | | | | |
| 8 | 9,500K | 20,000K | | | | |
| 9 | 11,000K | 20,000K | | | | |
| 10 | 11,100K | 20,000K | | | | |
| 11 | 11,100K | 20,000K | | | | |
| 12 | 11,100K | 20,000K | | | | |
| 13 | 11,100K | 20,000K | | | | |
| 14 | 11,100K | 20,000K | | | | |

Table S3. Kelvin recordings during experimental weeks (5-14) for LED light treatments.



Figure S2. Ecotech Radion XR30 Mobius app settings use to create 60 PAR.

Light spectrum settings for LED treatments, reef-depth (left) and blue-shifted (right), at 5 weeks post-settlement.



Figure S3. Ecotech Radion XR30 Mobius app settings used to create 110 PAR. Light spectrum settings for LED treatments, reef-depth (left) and blue-shifted (right), at 14 weeks post-settlement.



Figure S4. Differential Algal growth between sunlight (left) and LED (right) light source. Algae under LED treatment accumulated quickly compared to the area designated for the sunlight treatment.



Figure S5. Spectral analysis at 60 PAR. Spectral measurements for each light treatment at 5 weeks post-settlement. Intensity counts represent the quantity of photons detected at each wavelength.



Figure S6. Spectral analysis at 110 PAR.

Spectral measurements for each light treatment at 14 weeks post-settlement. Intensity counts represent the quantity of photons detected at each wavelength.

Table S4. RPubs links

| Survival | https://rpubs.com/Dayponce/CoralSurvivalCurves |
|----------|--|
| Growth | https://rpubs.com/Dayponce/CoralGrowth |

References

- Abrego, D., Willis, B. L., & van Oppen, M. J. (2012). Impact of light and temperature on the uptake of algal symbionts by coral juveniles. *PLoS ONE*, 7(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0050311
- Baird, A. H., Guest, J. R., & Hoegh-Guldberg, O. (2009). Systematic and biogeographical patterns in the reproductive biology of scleractinian corals. *Coral Reefs*, 28(4), 759-774.
- Barton, J. A., Willis, B. L., & Hutson, K. S. (2015). Coral propagation: A review of techniques for ornamental trade and reef restoration. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 9(3), 238–256. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12135
- Baums, I. B., Baker, A. C., Davies, S. W., Grottoli, A. G., Kenkel, C. D., Kitchen, S. A.,
 Kuffner, I. B., LaJeunesse, T. C., Matz, M. V., Miller, M. W., Parkinson, J. E., & Shantz,
 A. A. (2019). Considerations for maximizing the adaptive potential of restored coral
 populations in the western Atlantic. *Ecologica*, 29(8), e01978.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1978
- Bayer, T., Aranda, M., Sunagawa, S., Yum, L. K., DeSalvo, M. K., Lindquist, E., Coffroth, M. A., Voolstra, C. R., & Medina, M. (2012). Symbiodinium transcriptomes: Genome insights into the dinoflagellate symbionts of reef-building corals. *PLoS ONE*, 7(4), e35269. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0035269
- Bellwood, D. R., Hughes T. P., Folke, C., & Nyström, M. (2004). Confronting the coral reef crisis. *Nature*, 429(6994), 827-833. doi:10.1038/nature02691
- Bernasconi, R., Stat, M., Koenders, A., Paparini, A., Bunce, M., & Huggett, M. J. (2019). Establishment of coral-bacteria symbioses reveal changes in the core bacterial community with host ontogeny. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01529
- Brown, K. T., Bender-Champ, D., Kubicek, A., van der Zande, R., Achlatis, M., Hoegh-Guldberg, O., & Dove, S. G. (2018). The dynamics of coral-algal interactions in space and time on the Southern Great Barrier Reef. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2018.00181
- Bruno, J. F., Côté, I. M., & Toth, L. T. (2019). Climate change, coral loss, and the curious case of the parrotfish paradigm: why don't marine protected areas improve reef resilience? *Annual Review of Marine Science*, *11*, 307-33. https://doi.org/10.31230/osf.io/ugk4v
- Bruno, J. F., & Selig, E. R. (2007). Regional decline of coral cover in the Indo-Pacific: Timing, extent, and subregional comparisons. *PLoS ONE*, 2(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0000711

- Cheng, C. M., Cheng, Y. R., Lin, H. Y., Sun, W. T., Pan, C. H., & Ding, D. S. (2020). Effects of LED light illumination on the growth, digestive enzymes, and photoacclimation of Goniopora columna in captivity. *Journal of Marine Science and Engineering*, 8(3), 184. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12030306
- Christiansen, N. A., Ward, S., Harii, S., & Tibbetts, I. R. (2008). Grazing by a small fish affects the early stages of a post-settlement stony coral. *Coral Reefs*, 28(1), 47–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-008-0429-9
- Cohen, I., Dubinsky, Z., & Erez, J. (2015). Light enhanced calcification in hermatypic corals: New insights from light spectral responses. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *2*, 122. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2015.00122
- Côté, I. M., Gill, J. A., Gardner, T. A., & Watkinson, A. R. (2005). Measuring coral reef decline through meta-analyses. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 360(1454), 385–395. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2004.1591
- Craggs, J., Guest, J. R., Davis, M., Simmons, J., Dashti, E., & Sweet, M. (2017). Inducing broadcast coral spawning ex situ: Closed system mesocosm design and husbandry protocol. *Ecology and Evolution*, 7(24), 11066–11078. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.3538
- Cumbo, V., Baird, A., & van Oppen, M. (2012). The promiscuous larvae: Flexibility in the establishment of symbiosis in corals. *Coral Reefs*, *32*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-012-0951-7
- D'Angelo, C., Denzel, A., Vogt, A., Matz, M. V., Oswald, F., Salih, A., Nienhaus, G. U., & Wiedenmann, J. (2008). Blue light regulation of host pigment in reef-building corals. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 364, 97-106. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps07479
- Dove, S. G., Hoegh-Guldberg, O., & Ranganathan, S. (2001). Major colour patterns of reefbuilding corals are due to a family of GFP-like proteins. *Coral Reefs*, 19(3), 197-204. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00006956
- Drew. E. A. (1972). The biology and physiology of alga-invertebrates symbioses. II. The density of symbiotic algal cells in a number of hermatypic hard corals and alcyonarians from various depths. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *10*, 103-116.
- Eddy, T. D., Cheung, W. W., & Bruno, J. F. (2018). Historical baselines of coral cover on tropical reefs as estimated by expert opinion. *PeerJ*, *6*, e4308.
- Falkowski, P. G., Dubinsky, Z., Muscatine, L., & Porter, J. W. (1984). Light and the bioenergetics of a symbiotic coral. *Bioscience*, 34(11), 705-709. https://doi.org/10.2307/1309663

- Ferrier-Pages, C., Rottier, C., Beraud, E., & Levy, O. (2010). Experimental assessment of the feeding effort of three scleractinian coral species during a thermal stress: Effect on the rates of photosynthesis. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 390(2), 118-124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2010.04.017
- Fisher, R., O'Leary, R. A., Low-Choy, S., Mengersen, K., Knowlton, N., Brainard, R. E., & Caley, M. J. (2015). Species Richness on Coral Reefs and the Pursuit of Convergent Global Estimates. *Current Biology*, 25(4), 500-505. https://doi.org/10.1016/jcub.2014.12.022
- Fourney, F., & Figueiredo, J. (2017). Additive negative effects of anthropogenic sedimentation and warming on the survival of coral recruits. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-12607-w
- Graham, E.M., Baird, A.H., Willis, B.L., Connolly, S.R. (2013). Effects of delayed settlement on post-settlement growth and survival of scleractinian coral larvae. *Oecologia*, *173*(2), 431-8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-013-2635-6.
- Gómez-Cabrera, M. C., Ortiz, J. C., Loh, W. K., Ward, S., & Hoegh-Guldberg, O. (2007). Acquisition of symbiotic dinoflagellates (symbiodinium) by juveniles of the coral acropora longicyathus. *Coral Reefs*, 27(1), 219–226. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-007-0315-x
- Harrison, P. & Wallace, C. (1990). Reproduction, dispersal and recruitment of scleractinian corals ecosystems of the world. In Z Dubinsky (Ed.), Ecosystems of the world: Coral Reefs (Vol. 25, pp. 133-208). *Elsevier*.
- Hartmann, A. C., Marhaver, K. L., & Vermeij, M. J. A. (2017). Corals in healthy populations produce more larvae per unit cover: Higher fecundity in healthy coral populations. *Conservation Letters*, 11(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12410
- Hearn, C. J., Wave-breaking hydrodynamics within coral reef systems and the effect of changing relative sea level. (1999). *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans, 104*, 30007–30019 https://doi.org/10.1029/1999JC900262
- Hoogenboom, M. O., Campbell, D. A., Beraud, E., DeZeeuw, K., & Ferrier-Pagès, C. (2012). Effects of light, food availability and temperature stress on the function of photosystem II and photosystem I of coral symbionts. *PLoS One*, 7(1), e30167. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030167
- Hughes, T. P., Baird, A. H., Bellwood, D. R., Card, M., Connolly, S. R., Folke, C., Grosberg, R., Hoegh-Guldberg, O., Jackson, J. B., Kleypas, J., Lough, J. M., Marshall, P., Nyström, M., Palumbi, S. R., Pandolfi, J. M., Rosen, B., & Roughgarden, J. (2003). Climate change, human impacts, and the resilience of coral reefs. *Science*, *301*(5635), 929–933. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1085046

- Hughes, T. P., Barnes, M. L., Bellwood, D. R., Cinner, J. E., Cumming, G. S., Jackson, J. B., Kleypas, J., van de Leemput, I. A., Lough, J. M., Morrison, T. H., Palumbi, S. R., van Nes, E. H., & Scheffer, M. (2017). Coral reefs in the anthropocene. *Nature*, 546(7656), 82–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature22901
- Hughes, T., Kerry, J. T., Baird, A. H., Connolly, S. R., Chase, T. J., Dietzel, A., Hill, T., Hoey, A. S., Hoogenboom, M. O., Jacobson, M., Kerswell, A., Madin, J. S., Mieog, A., Paley, A. S., Pratchett, M. S., Torda, G., & Woods, R. M. (2019). Global warming impairs stock–recruitment dynamics of corals. *Nature*, *568*(7752), 387–390. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1081-y
- Izumi, R., Tan, E. S., Higa, H., Shi, Z., Takeuchi, Y., Isomura, N., & Takemura, A. (2023). Effects of light intensity and spectral composition on the growth and physiological adaptation of acroporid corals. *Coral Reefs*, 42(2), 385–398. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-023-02348-w
- Kawaguti, S. (1969). The coral reef of Kikaijima, One of the Amami Islands, and the problem of its conservation. *Micronesica*. 5(2):311-312.
- Keister, E. F., Gantt, S. E., Reich, H. G., Turnham, K. E., Bateman, T. G., LaJeunesse, T. C., Warner, M. E., & Kemp, D. W. (2023). Similarities in biomass and energy reserves among coral colonies from contrasting reef environments. *Scientific Reports*, 13(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-28289-6
- King S., Saint-Amand A., Walker B.K., Hanert E., Figueiredo J. 2023. Larval dispersal patterns and connectivity of *Acropora* on Florida's coral reef and its implications for restoration. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 9:1038463. http://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.1038463
- Kinzie, R.A., Hunter, T. Effect of light quality on photosynthesis of the reef coral *Montipora verrucosa*. *Marine Biology*. *94*, 95–109 (1987). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00392902
- Kinzie, R. A., Jokiel, P. L., & York, R. (1984). Effects of light of altered spectral composition on coral zooxanthellae associations and on zooxanthellae in vitro. *Marine Biology*, 78(3), 239–248. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00393009
- Kopecky, K. L., Cook, D. T., Schmitt, R. J., & Stier, A. C. (2021). Effects of corallivory and coral colony density on coral growth and survival. *Coral Reefs*, 40(2), 283–288. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-021-02076-z
- Koval, G., Rivas, N., D'Alessandro, M., Hesley, D., Santos, R., & Lirman, D. (2020). Fish predation hinders the success of coral restoration efforts using fragmented massive corals. *PeerJ*, 8. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.9978
- Krebs, C. J., L. S. Davis, M. J. Byrne, P. A. Moore, and D. C. Smith. 2019. Effects of light and nutrients on the growth and survival of juvenile corals. *Coral Reef,s* 38,1025–1036

- Kuanui, P., Chavanich, S., Viyakarn, V., Omori, M., Fujita, T., & Lin, C. (2020). Effect of light intensity on survival and photosynthetic efficiency of cultured corals of different ages. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 235, 106515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2019.106515
- Leal, M. C., Ferrier-Pagès, C., Petersen, D., & Osinga, R. (2014). Coral aquaculture: Applying scientific knowledge to *ex situ* production. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 8(2), 136–153. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12087
- Lesser, M. P. L., Mazel, C., Phinney, D., & Yentsch, C. S. (2000). Light absorption and utilization by colonies of the congeneric hermatypic corals *Montastraea faveolata* and *Montastraea cavernosa*. *Limnology and Oceanography*, *45*(1), 76-86
- Levy, O., Appelbaum, L., Leggat, W., Gothlif, Y., Hayward, D. C., Miller, D. J., Hoegh-Guldberg, O., & Fine, M. (2007). Light-responsive cryptochromes from a simple multicellular animal, the coral Acropora millepora. *Science*, *318*(5849), 467470. https://doi.org/10.11126/science.114532
- Ligson, C. A., Cabaitan, P. C., & Harrison, P. L. (2022). Survival and growth of coral recruits in varying group sizes. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *543*, 151684. https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2021.151684
- Main, K. L., & Goodbody-Gringley, G. (2010). Effect of light on the growth of four coral species in land-based nursery systems. In Linking Science to Management: A Conference and Workshop on the Florida Keys Marine Ecosystem, 19–22 October 2010, Duck Key, Florida (p. 109).
- Mass, T., Einbinder, S., Brokovich, E., Shashar, N., Vago, R., Erez, J., & Dubinsky, Z. (2007). Photoacclimation of Stylophora pistillata to light extremes: Metabolism and calcification. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 334, 93-102.h https://doi.org/10.3354/meps334093
- Mass, T., Kline, D. I., Roopin, M., Veal, C. J., Cohen, S., Iluz, D., & Levy, O. (2010). The spectral quality of light is a key driver of photosynthesis and photoadaptation in Stylophora pistillata colonies from different depths in the Red Sea. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 213(23), 4084-4091. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.039891
- McMahon, N. (2018). Optimization of light irradiance during the early life of sexually-produced *Porites astreoides* and *Agaricia agaricites* recruits [Master's thesis, Nova Southeastern University]. NSUWorks, https://nsuworks.novaedu/occ_stuetd/493
- Mies, M., Sumida, P. Y., Rädecker, N., & Voolstra, C. R. (2017). Marine invertebrate larvae associated with symbiodinium: A mutualism from the start? *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, *5*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2017.00056
- Montoya Maya, P. H., Smit, K. P., Burt, A. J., & Frias-Torres, S. (2016). Large-scale coral reef restoration could assist natural recovery in Seychelles, Indian Ocean. *Nature Conservation*, 16, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3897/natureconservation.16.8604

- Mote, S., Gupta, V., De, K., Hussain, A., More, K., Nanajkar, M., & Ingole, B. (2021). Differential Symbiodiniaceae association with coral and coral-eroding sponge in a bleaching impacted marginal coral reef environment. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.666825
- Muscatine, L., & Cernichiari, E. (1969). Assimilation of photosynthetic products of zooxanthellae by a reef coral. *Biological Bulletin, 137*, 506-523. https://doi.org/10.2307/1540172
- O'Neil, K. L., Serafin, R. M., Patterson, J. T., & Craggs, J. R. (2021). Repeated ex situ spawning in two highly disease susceptible corals in the family Meandrinidae. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.669976
- Oppen, M. van. (2001). In vitro establishment of symbiosis in Acropora millepora planulae. *Coral Reefs*, 20(3), 200–200. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003380100167
- Osinga, R., Janssen, M., & Jansse, M. (2008). The role of light in coral physiology and its implications for coral husbandry. In R. J. Leewis & M. Janse (Eds.), Advances in coral husbandry in public aquariums (pp. 173-184).
- Petersen, D., Laterveer, M., & Schuhmacher, H. (2005). Spatial and temporal variation in larval settlement of reefbuilding corals in Mariculture. *Aquaculture*, 249(1–4), 317–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2005.04.048
- Plaisance, L., Caley, M. J., Brainard, R. E., & Knowlton, N. (2011). The diversity of coral reefs: What are we missing? *PLoS ONE*, 6(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0025026
- Porter, J. W., Muscatine, L., Dubinsky, Z., & Falkowski, P. G. (1984). Primary production and photoadaptation in light- and shade-adapted colonies of the symbiotic coral, *Stylophora pistillata*. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 222(1228), 161-180.
- Putnam, H. M., Edmunds, P. J., & Fan, T.-Y. (2008). Effect of temperature on the settlement choice and photophysiology of larvae from the reef coral *stylophora pistillata*. *The Biological Bulletin*, 215(2), 135–142. https://doi.org/10.2307/25470694
- Raymundo, L. J., & Maypa, A. P. (2004). Getting bigger faster: Mediation of size-specific mortality via fusion in juvenile coral transplants. *Ecological Applications*, 14(1), 281– 295. https://doi.org/10.1890/02-5373
- Richmond, R. H., Tisthammer, K. H., & Spies, N. P. (2018). The effects of anthropogenic stressors on reproduction and recruitment of corals and reef organisms. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2018.00226
- Richmond, R., & Hunter, C. (1990). Reproduction and recruitment of corals: Comparisons among the Caribbean, the tropical Pacific, and the Red Sea. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 60, 185–203. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps060185

- Rinkevich, B., & Loya, Y. (1984). Does light enhance calcification in hermatypic corals? *Marine Biology*, 80(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00393120
- Ritson-Williams, R., Ross, C., & Paul, V. J. (2016). Elevated temperature and allelopathy impact coral recruitment. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(12), e0166581. https://doi.org/10/1371/journal.pone.0166581
- Ross, C., Ritson-Williams, R., Olsen, K., & Paul, V. J. (2013). Short-term and latent postsettlement effects associated with elevated temperature and oxidative stress on larvae from the coral Porites astreoides. *Coral Reefs, 32*, 71-79. doi: 10.1007/s00338-012-0953-3
- Roth, M. S. (2014). The engine of the reef: Photobiology of the coral algal symbiosis. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *5*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00422
- Schwarz, J. A., Krupp, D. A., & Weis, V. M. (1999). Late larval development and onset of symbiosis in the Scleractinian coral Fungia Scutaria. *The Biological Bulletin*, 196(1), 70– 79. https://doi.org/10.2307/1543169
- Sebens, K. P. (1994). Biodiversity of coral reefs: What are we losing and why? *American Zoologist*, *34*(1), 115–133. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/34.1.115
- Sinniger, F., Harii, S., Humblet, M., Nakamura, Y., Ohba, H. and Prasetia, R. (2019). In: Y. Loya, K. A. Puglise and T. C. L. Bridge (Eds.), *Mesophotic Coral Ecosystems*. Springer International Publishing, pp. 231-247.
- Stambler, N., & Dubinsky, Z. (2004a). Corals as light collectors: An integrating sphere approach. *Coral Reefs*, 24(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-004-0452-4
- Suggett, D. J., Warner, M. E., Smith, D. J., & Davey, P. (2017). Coral reefs: Physiology, ecology, and climate change. Springer.
- Szabó, M., Wangpraseurt, D., Tamburic, B., Larkum, A. W. D., Schreiber, U., Suggett, D. J., Kühl, M., & Ralph, P. J. (2014). Effective light absorption and absolute electron transport rates in the coral Pocillopora damicornis. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 83, 159-167. doi:10.1016/j.plaphy.2014.07.015
- Tagliafico, A., Baker, P., Kelaher, B., Ellis, S., & Harrison, D. (2022). The effects of shade and light on corals in the context of coral bleaching and Shading Technologies. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.919382
- Tamir, R., Eyal, G., Cohen, I., & Loya, Y. (2020). Effects of light pollution on the early life stages of the most abundant northern Red Sea coral. *Microorganisms*, 8(2), 193. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8020193

- Thompson, J. R., Rivera, H. E., Closek, C. J., & Medina, M. (2015). Microbes in the coral holobiont: Partners through evolution, development, and Ecological Interactions. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2014.00176
- Titlyanov, E. A., Titlyanova, T. V., Yamazato, K., & van Woesik, R. (2001). Photo-acclimation of the hermatypic coral Stylophora pistillata while subjected to either starvation or food provisioning. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *257*(1), 163-180.
- Titlyanov, E. A., Titlyanova, T. V., Yamazato, K., & van Woesik, R. (2002). Acclimation of symbiotic reef-building corals to extremely low light. *Photosynthesis Research*, *33*(2), 125-130.
- Wang, L.-H., Liu, Y.-H., Ju, Y.-M., Hsiao, Y.-Y., Fang, L.-S., & Chen, C.-S. (2008). Cell cycle propagation is driven by light-dark stimulation in a cultured symbiotic dinoflagellate isolated from corals. *Coral Reefs*, *27*, 823-835.
- Wangpraseurt, D., Pernice, M., Guagliardo, P., Kilburn, M. R., Clode, P. L., Polerecky, L., & Kühl, M. (2019). Light microenvironment and single-cell gradients of carbon fixation in tissues of symbiont-bearing corals. *The ISME Journal*, 13(11), 2612-2624. doi: 10.1038/s41396-019-0468-8
- Weis, V.M., Reynolds, W.S., deBoer, M.D., Krupp, D.A. (2001). Host-symbiont specificity during onset of symbiosis between the dinoflagellates *Symbiodinium* spp. and planula larvae of the scleractinian coral *Fungia scutaria*. *Coral Reefs 20*: 301–308
- Wiesner, M., & Lasker, H. R. (2017). Energy reserves and metabolism as indicators of coral recovery from bleaching. *Coral Reefs*, *36*(3), 683-688.
- Wijgerde, T., van Melis, A., Silva, C. I., Leal, M. C., Vogels, L., Mutter, C., & Osinga, R. (2014). Red light represses the photophysiology of the scleractinian coral stylophora pistillata. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0092781
- Yamashita, H., Suzuki, G., Kai, S., Hayashibara, T., & Koike, K. (2014). Establishment of coralalgal symbiosis requires attraction and selection. *PLoS ONE*, 9(5).https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0097003